IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JAN 17 1986

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner/Respondent,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT,

By Chief Court Clerk

vs.

CASE NOS. 68,081 & 68,088 -

MICHAEL ALLEN PENTAUDE,

Respondent/Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

HENRI CHEVET CAWTHON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER/RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner the State of Florida, the prosecution and appellee in the courts below, will be referred to as "Petitioner." Respondent, Michael Allen Pentaude, the criminal defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal, will be referred to as "Respondent."

References to the record on appeal, which contains the legal documents filed in this cause, will be designated "(R)." References to the transcript of testimony and proceedings at the sentencing hearing will be designated "(T)."

All emphasis is supplied by Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was placed on probation for a period of five years on January 31, 1984, after pleading guilty to grand theft (R 47-49).

An affidavit of violation of probation for violating conditions 3, 6, 7, 8 and 9 was filed on April 5, 1984.

Respondent admitted the violations (R 52, T 2).

At the sentencing hearing the trial judge departed from the recommended guidelines sentences of any non-state prison sanction, or 12 to 30 months incarceration in the next higher cell, by imposing a sentence of five years imprisonment (R 87, T 7). The following reasons were given for the departure:

You have violated conditions of your probation and the trust imposed upon you not only by failing to abide by the technical conditions of probation, but apparently having been convicted of an additional crime which shows an utter disregard for the law and for the chances previously given you.

Those reasons the Court deems to be sufficient to aggravate your sentence beyond the sentencing guidelines.

(T 9-10).

Respondent appealed his sentence to the District Court of Appeal, First District, and the following question was certified to be of great public importance:

WHETHER, UNDER RULE 3.701(d)(14) A PERSON FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATION OF PROBATION MAY BE SENTENCED BEYOND THE NEXT HIGHER CELL UPON CONSIDERATION BY THE TRIAL COURT OF CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE VIOLATION FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT TO BE CLEAR AND CONVINCING REASONS FOR DEPARTURE?

<u>Pentaude v. State</u>, 10 F.L.W. 2625, 2626 (Fla. 1st DCA November 22, 1985).

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER, UNDER RULE 3.701(d)(14)
A PERSON FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATION
OF PROBATION MAY BE SENTENCED BEYOND
THE NEXT HIGHER CELL UPON CONSIDERATION BY THE TRIAL COURT OF
CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE
VIOLATION FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT
TO BE CLEAR AND CONVINCING REASONS
FOR DEPARTURE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(14) is merely a codification of pre-existing case law and does not preclude a trial court from sentencing a defendant to any term within the statutory limits based solely upon a violation of probation as long as the court expresses its reasons for departure where the sentence imposed is greater than the "next higher cell."

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

UNDER RULE 3.701(d)(14) A PERSON FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATION OF PROBATION MAY BE SENTENCED BEYOND THE NEXT HIGHER CELL UPON CONSIDERATION BY THE TRIAL COURT OF CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE VIOLATION FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT TO BE CLEAR AND CONVINCING REASONS FOR DEPARTURE.

In addressing this issue the lower court stated as follows:

[Respondent] contends that since the violation of probation is already accounted for by increasing the sentence to the next higher cell, departure beyond that cell may not be granted on any circumstances surrounding the violation but must be completely independent of the violation. We disagree. Where a trial judge finds that the underlying reasons for violation of probation (as opposed to the mere fact of violation) are more than a minor infraction and are sufficiently egregious, he is entitled to depart from the presumptive guidelines range and impose an appropriate sentence within the statutory limit. The sentencing guidelines were primarily intended to aid the trial judge in the consistent administration of justice, not to usurp his judicial discretion. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(b)(6): Manning v. State, 452 So.2d 136 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

10 F.L.W. at 2625-26. Another decision of the lower court, as well as those of the Second and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, properly interpret Rule 3.701(d)(14). Williams v. State, 11 F.L.W. 3 (Fla. 1st DCA December 19, 1985);

Gordon v. State, 10 F.L.W. 2748 (Fla. 2d DCA December 11, 1985);

Riggins v. State, 10 F.L.W. 2441 (Fla. 5th DCA October 31,

1985); Hall v. State, 10 F.L.W. 2412 (Fla. 2d DCA October 23,

1985); Hutchinson v. State, 10 F.L.W. 2691 (Fla. 1st DCA

December 5, 1985). Petitioner agrees that this provision

does not preclude a trial court from sentencing a defendant

to any term within the statutory limits based solely upon

the probation violation as long as the court expresses its

reasons for such a departure. It is submitted that implicit

within the rule is the judge's prerogative to impose a

sentence beyond the next higher cell based solely upon the

probation violation and the surrounding circumstances.

Petitioner contends that Rule 3.701(d)(14) was not intended to alter in any way a trial judge's discretion to sentence a defendant to any sentence within the statutory limits, but rather was intended only to codify previous appellate court decisions holding that a violation of probation is a clear and convincing reason for departure and to make it clear that even if an individual was placed on probation prior to the effective date of the sentencing guidelines, sentencing following a violation is "to be in

¹Rule 3.701(d)(14) provides: Sentences imposed after revocation of probation or community control must be in accordance with the guidelines. The sentence imposed after revocation of probation may be included within the original cell (guidelines range) or may be increased to the next higher cell (guidelines range) without requiring a reason for departure.

accordance with the guidelines," including the rules governing departures.

In the instant case, the trial court departed from the recommended range due not only to seven violations, but also because Respondent was convicted of a substantive crime during the same probationary period. Clearly, a judge must be allowed to exceed the next higher cell under these circumstances. It must also be noted that other reasons for departure which were stated at the sentencing hearing were inadvertently omitted from the separate written reasons, to wit: one of the violations was committed 18 days after Respondent was placed on probation and another was committed within two months after he was placed on probation (T 11). It is clearly within the trial court's discretion to consider an aggravating factor which is not provided for on the scoresheet and which is not precluded from consideration under Rule 3.701.

Rule 3.701(d)(14) merely states that the sentence imposed after revocation of probation may be included within the original cell or may be increased to the next higher cell without requiring a reason for departure. It does not purport to cover a revocation based upon violations of more than one condition or a revocation based upon repeated violations or a revocation of increased non-penal sanctions or a revocation based upon violations of penal statutes rather than "technical" conditions not involving criminal activity. Literally, the rule merely states that a revocation of probation or community

control, which might legally be predicated upon <u>any</u> violation of even <u>one</u> condition, can result in a one cell bump without any stated reasons. Of course, Petitioner does not view any violation of a judicial condition of probation as being merely technical. To do so would undermine the very concept of probation and would constitute an assault upon the validity of the condition itself. Clearly, the rule is meant to discourage a probationer from violating a condition of probation or community control with impunity by alleviating the necessity of stating reasons for a one cell departure.

The only rational understanding of the rule is that the trial judge has discretion to depart more than one cell depending upon the character of the violation, the number of conditions violated, the number of times he has been placed on probation, the length of time he has been on probation before violating the terms and conditions, and any other factor material or relevant to the defendant's character. Weems v. State, 469 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1985). This interpretation of course does not intrude upon the traditional discretion of the trial judges, which the guidelines were not intended to do.

Thus, Petitioner urges this Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative.

Respectfully submitted,

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

HENRI CHEVET CAWTHON

Assistant Attorney General

The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER/RESPONDENT