FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 17 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :
Petitioner, :
vs. :
MICHAEL ALLEN PENTAUDE, :
Respondent. :

CASE NOS. 68,081 /
68,088 //

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KENNETH L. HOSFORD
Special Assistant Public Defender
210 Office Plaza
Tallahassee, FL 32301
904/878-0308

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

III. ARGUMENT

WHETHER, UNDER RULE 3.701(d)(14) A PERSON FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATION OF PROBATION MAY BE SENTENCED BEYOND THE NEXT HIGHER CELL UPON CONSIDERATION BY THE TRIAL COURT OF CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE VIOLATION FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT TO BE CLEAR AND CONVINCING REASONS FOR DEPARTURE?

Respondent submits that the foregoing question should be answered as follows:

UNDER RULE 3.701(d)(14) A PERSON FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATION OF PROBATION MAY NOT BE SENTENCED BEYOND THE NEXT HIGHER CELL UPON CONSIDERATION BY THE TRIAL OF CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE VIOLATION FOUND BY THE TRIAL COURT TO BE CLEAR AND CONVINCING REASONS FOR DEPARTURE.

Assuming arguendo that Respondent properly elected guideline sentencing, his five year prison sentence must be reversed since the departure from the recommended guideline sentence was not based upon clear and convincing reasons. The primary reason given for departure was the fact that Respondent had violated his probation (R-60). Respondent's sentencing occurred November 1, 1984, after the effective date of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(14). The present case involves an interpretation of that rule and is one of first impression.

Rule 3.701(d)(14) provides:

Sentences imposed after revocation of probation or community control must be in accordance with the guidelines. The sentence imposed after revocation of probation may be included within the original cell (guidelines range) or may be increased to the next higher cell (guidelines range) without requiring a reason for departure.

(Emphasis supplied). According to the appellate courts, this new rule became effective July 1, 1984. Jackson v. State, 454 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). McGrath v. State, 454 So.2d 694 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); O'Malley v. State, 10 FLW 267 (Fla. 4th DCA January 30, 1985). Under this rule, the trial court, based upon Respondent's violation of probation, could properly have imposed a sentence in the 12-30 month incarceration range. Rule 3.988(c), Category 3 (Robbery) Fla.R.Crim.P. The trial Court, however, deviated from the guidelines, imposing

a five year term of imprisonment, based upon Respondent's violation of probation. Since the guidelines themselves already make provisions for increasing punishment due to a violation of probation, Respondent contends this factor cannot then be utilized as a basis for departure.

Respondent is fully cognizant of the plethora of cases which have held that a violation of probation constitutes a clear and convincing reason for departure. E.g., Bogan v. State, 454 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Addison v. State, 542 So.2d 955 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Tucker v. State, 10 FLW 462 (Fla. 3d DCA February 19, 1985); Carter v. State, 452 So.2d 953 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). However, none of these reported cases deal with the propriety of a violation of probation serving as a basis for departure after the enactment of Rule 3.7019(d)(14). Since the rule now provides that a violation of probation justifies an increase in punishment one cell, Respondent contends that the trial court is not now permitted on the basis of a violation of probation. Moreover, the judge's allusion to a prior conviction of Respondent as a basis of departure from the guidelines also constitutes an impermissible double-counting, as prior convictions are accounted for on the guidelines scoresheet.

Numerous cases have condemned deviations based upon factor already accounted for within the guidelines recommended sentencing range. State v. Carney, 476 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1985)

(factors that "the robbery was premeditated and calculated and for pecuniary gain" and "(that) there was no provocation (for the robbery)" are inherent components of robbery and hence already embodied in the guidelines recommended sentencing range; factors thus impermissible basis for departure); State v. Burch, 476 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1985) (fact that defendant on parole not proper basis for departure since "legal status" at time of offense already scored); Napoles v. State, 10 FLW 337 (Fla. 1st DCA February 7, 1985) (fact that defendant on probation improper basis for departure since that fact already taken into consideration in computing recommended sentence); Sarvis v. State, ____ So.2d ____ (Fla. 1st DCA March 13, 1985) Case No. AV-337 (improper to deviate based upon facts which have already been included within the determination of the guideline sentence); Callaghan v. State, 462 So.2d 832, (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (court not at liberty to aggravate a sentence by using elements which go to make up the crime for which the defendant is being sentenced; use of firearm improper reason for deviation since crime of shooting in a dwelling necessarily involves use of a firearm); Bowdoin v. State, 10 FLW 472 (Fla. 4th DCA February 20, 1985) (defendant's use of a firearm during commission of robbery with a deadly weapon improper ground for departure since use of firearm already factored into the presumptive sentence);

Knowlton v. State, 10 FLW 457 (Fla. 4th DCA February 20, 1985) (following State v. Carney, supra; fact that robbery planned in advance improper ground for deviation since inherent in robbery).

Accordingly, neither reason cited by the trial judge as a basis for departure from the guidelines is a clear and convincing permissible one, and therefore Respondent's sentence should be reversed and the cause remanded for resentencing.